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SUMMARY

The First Methodist Episcopal Church, South, is located at 302 North Jefferson Street,
Perry, in Taylor County, Florida. First United Methodist Church of Perry is the church’s
current name. Builtin 1917, the church was designed by architect George Kramer of New
York City. Kramer designed 2,219 churches and Sunday schools in the United States, and
was one the country’s most prominent church architects. The church has a Spanish
Mission Revival Style with stucco exterior, arched windows, sculpted parapets, stained
glass windows, and a square entry tower at the juncture of the west and south facades with
squared timber brackets in the tower. The complex roof is surfaced with asphalt shingles,
and there is a basement. The historic church abuts a 1977 church building via a flat roof to
the walkway on the east between the two buildings.

SETTING

The City of Perry is laid out in an orthogonal street grid. The church fronts onto Jefferson
Street, a major north/south thoroughfare that passes the Taylor County Courthouse two
blocks to the south. The courthouse block signifies the center of the city, and commercial
uses line the blocks at the center and southbound. Residential areas lay to the east and
west of the central axis. Residences are set-back from sidewalks and green lawns and
mature trees are throughout the city. Residences are on the blocks to the west, north, and
east of the church. The church property is landscaped with grass, scrubs around the west
and south elevations, and two palm trees ornament the south elevation (Photo #1). A one-
story modern building adjacent to the church was built in 1977 for church offices,
assembly, and class rooms. It occupies the lot to the east. A parking lot serving the church
occupies the north half of the block.

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

The one and two-story church is built with two-brick thick walls, and it has a basement
with concrete walls. The exterior walls are painted an off-white color. The complex gable,
hip, and clipped-gable roof is surfaced with asphalt shingles (Photo #2). The stained glass
windows are set in wood frames. A long enclosed hallway separates the historic church
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building and a 1977 church annex on the east elevation. Glass doors are at either end of
the hall at the basement level, and a flat ceiling/roof butts against the east elevation at the
church’s floor level. An incline gives access to a basement level door.

Exterior

The west facade fronts onto Jefferson Street, and has three main areas: a two-story engaged
entry tower on the south corner, a sculpted parapet center section with three large

windows, and a clipped-gable north section with three windows and a single door (Photo
#3). The square tower has open arched entries with drip molds on the west and south sides
that access the concrete porch which has nine concentric concrete steps (Photo #4). There
is a belt-course at the second and third story height, and small, single, rectangular stained
glass windows in the second story on the west and south sides. On each side of the tower
are arched openings at the third story, and a pyramidal roof. Exposed rafter ends are

within the eaves, and large timber brackets are at each corner of the eaves. Atthe
northwest corner of the tower is the cornerstone which reads “First Methodist Episcopal
Church, South, 1917” (Photo #5). The central portion of the elevation has a symmetrical
sculpted parapet with a small arched window with leaded glass centered in it (Photo #3).

A belt course is at the second story, and three large windows with stained glass are
centered in the first story. The center window is arched and the flanking windows are
shorter and rectangular. Shrubbery obscures the small square windows set in the basement
walls. The north portion of the elevation has a clipped gable end of the two-story roof with
exposed rafter ends at the center eave, and large square timber supports at each corner of
the roof ridges (Photo #6). Centered in the second story is a group of three rectangular
stained glass windows, and a small window is set beside them to the south. Three arched
windows containing stained glass are in the first story, and a fourth arched blind-window
with drip molding over a basement door. A recessed entry with two doors and transom is
located at the juncture of the central and northern parts of the elevation. A gable roof
supported by two square timbers shelters the porch. Six concrete steps rise to the porch.
To the north of the steps and beneath the blind-window are narrow double doors that step
down giving access to the basement.
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The south elevation is a prominent elevation fronting onto East Bay Street (Photo #7).
With the entry tower at the southwest corner it too has a sculpted parapet and large three
window arrangement identical to the west facade’s central section.

The north elevation shows the side of the clipped gable portion of roof which contains a
dormer with ventilators (Photo #8). Three rectangular windows with stained glass are in

the first-story of the north wall. Small square windows at the basement level are obscured
by shrubbery. At the northeast corner of the church is a pyramidal roofed open shelter. At
the ground level of the extension are three arched openings on the three elevations giving a
sheltered entrance to a metal door elevator access. The extension and elevator were
installed in 2000.

The east elevation is obscured by the placement of the church extension built in 1977.

Five windows in the south half of the elevation serve the sanctuary, and four windows in
the north half of the elevation serve offices and classrooms. All windows have stained
glass. Two basement level doors original to the church are still in use and are accessed by
the hallway between the historic church and the 1977 building (Photo #9).

Interior

The interior is arranged to express the Akron Plan which placed the Sunday school
adjacent to the main sanctuary which was configured as an auditorium plan, with seating
close to the pulpit, and a tapered floor for better viewing.

Entering at the southwest corner of the church, the canted main double doors have stained
glass and stained glass transoms (Photo #10). A short narthex opens to the right and left
into the square sanctuary. At the northeast corner of the square room is a curved dais with
an altar centered on it, a pulpit, and short curved communion railings with kneeling
cushions (Photo #11). From the dais radiate four aisles (two along the walls) which divide
the sanctuary into three areas filled with curved pews (Photo #12). The center area has
longer pews than the side areas have shorter pews. The floor of the sanctuary slopes
downward from the rear toward the altar. The curved dais, curved seating, and sloped
floor configuration was known as “auditorium” seating, intended to provide easier



NPS Form 10-900-a
OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 7 Page 4 FIRST METHODIST EPISCOPAL
CHURCH, SOUTH, PERRY, TAYLOR
COUNTY, FLORIDA

listening and viewing of the minister by the congregation. In the east wall are three square
stained glass windows, and in the west and south walls are large stained glass windows
with ornamental sides, and figural pairs of central windows (Photos #13 & 14). The broad
coffered ceiling is an indication of the specially engineered wooden rafters needed to span
the space (Photo #15).

In the north wall of the sanctuary is a broad opening to what was the Sunday school, with
seating and a series of square windows set high in the north wall (Photo #16). The room is
raised one step up with a low railing across much of the opening, and a lectern is present
behind the railing. This room fulfilled the Akron Plan of situating the Sunday school
adjacent to the sanctuary. Doors in the northeast corner of his room give access to the
choir room where robes and music is kept, and a handicap entrance from the elevator. A
stairway in this northeast corner gives access to the basement level. A door in the
northwest corner of the room gives access to the church secretary’s office (Photo #17). A
door in the southwest corner of the room gives access to a hall that can lead to the west
side entrance, south access to the sanctuary, and access the pastors’ office to the north. A
stairway in this hall gives access to the basement, and maintenance access to the attic and
roof rafters above. The pastor’s office is in the northwest corner of the church with three
stained glass windows in the west wall, and one in the north wall (Photo #18).

The basement has access doors near the southeast corner, the east elevation near the
northeast corner, and stairs by the west side door. The center of the basement is a large,
open, multipurpose room (Photo #19). Around this central space are rooms around the
perimeter, mostly classrooms. A mechanical room is near the southeast corner (Photo
#20), bathrooms and a library are against the west wall, and a kitchen is near the northeast
corner (Photo #21). There is a display case with historic church documents and materials
(Photo #22).

ALTERATIONS
The most prominent alteration was the installation of an elevator and exterior sheltered

entrance on the northeast corner, to provide handicap access in 2000. The Sunday school
space beside the sanctuary had the folding doors removed in 1978, and the choir now uses
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the space. Inthe 1970s, damage to the roofs’ rafter system caused the east elevation wall
to lean away from the building and threaten it. In 1995 the east elevation was shorn up and
refaced with a concrete block wall. A flat roof was built between the church’s east

elevation and the 1977 building. This roof sheltered the space between the buildings, but
primarily helped brace the threatened east wall and hide square-stock steel braces that were
placed on top of the flat roof and against the south half of the east elevation (Photo #7).
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SUMMARY

The First Methodist Episcopal Church, South, in Perry, Florida, is nominated to the
National Register of for local significance under Criterion C in the areas of Architecture

and Art. Builtin 1917, and designed by the eminent church architect George W. Kramer
who designed 2,217 churches, the church is an exceptional example of what Kramer called
a “combination” church design. It brought together the Akron Plan for Sunday school
gatherings adjacent to auditorium seating with a slanted floor for the sanctuary. The

figural stained glass windows are excellent examples of the work of the Empire Glass and
Decoration Company in Atlanta, and of the glass painters’ trade.

ARCHITECTURAL CONTEXT
Mission Revival Style

Mission Revival Style architecture was popular in the United States from the 1890s until
1920, in areas where Spanish Colonial construction had occurred such as the Southwest
and Florida. The most common identifying features include dominant parapets on the
main roof or porch; red-tile roof with wide, open eaves. The porch is supported by
massive, often square piers or columns, and the use of arches and arcades. The most
common was surface is stucco. About half of the buildings have symmetrical facades.
Most have prominent single-story porches, and few are precise copies of Colonial
buildings. There is little surface ornament except for the occasional decorative tile or stone
carving?

Auditorium Plan and Akron Plan Interior

The Congregational Society in New York City, in 1836, built the Broadway Tabernacle,
the first church interior in the United States with_an auditorium layout. In an effort to seat
as many people as possible close to the minister and his sermon, a curved dais (raised
platform) with the pulpit in the center was designed. Pews and balconies at the rear were

! Virginia and Lee McAllisterA Field Guide to American Houses, New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1986,
409,410.
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curved as well. Isles between the pews radiated from the pulpit. This permitted more
people to be seated in front of and beside the mirfisker1849, Henry Ward Beecher’s
Congregational Plymouth Church was built just this way at his request. In time the floor
was tapered from the pulpit to the rear so more people could see and acoustics were
improved.

The First Methodist Episcopal Church, South, in Perry, has an interior spatial plan known

as the Akron plan that was first used in 1870, at the First Methodist Episcopal church of
Akron, Ohio, where it got its name. Reflecting a national movement toward child

education, the Methodist denomination was at the forefront of the Sunday school
movement. Sunday school rooms were positioned adjacent to the main sanctuary that were
often in the auditorium form with curved pews. Sliding or folding door would open and

close between the two spaces. This was so the children and adults could participate in the
same opening and closing of the worship service. During the service the children would
receive instruction adjusted to their age grdup.

George W. Kramer (1848-1938)

The architect for the Methodist Episcopal Church, South, of Perry was George Washington
Kramer. Kramer was born in Ashland, Ohio, in 1848. He married Harriet Estelle
Blackman in 1870. In 1873 he started his work in architecture. He went Akron, Ohio in
1879 and joined the partnership of (Frank O.) Weary, (Jacob) Snyder, and (David G.)
Wilcox, and when Snyder left the firm in 1885, it became Weary and Kramer. In 1894, the
Kramers moved to East Orange, New Jersey, and set up an office in New York City. In
New York he worked with B.H. Simonson for a year, and then C.C. Hamilton until 1898.

In 1912, his son George Lee Kramer joined him to form Kramer and Son, Architects, until
1924. He was a founder of the Western Association of Architects which merged into the
American Institute of Architects where he became a fellow. He specialized in church and
Sunday school designs, building 2,219 of them. In New Jersey he built 45 alone. He
published three books; in 1897, The What, How, and Why of Church Building; in 1910,
The Twentieth Century Church, Part One, and in 1914, Common Sense in Church

2 Robert Jaeger, “The Auditorium and Akron Plans,” Cornell University, Master’s Thesis, May, 1984, 53-54.
3 |bid; 141-147.
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Building: A Series of Six Addresses Prepared for Delivery at the Church Efficiency
Congress, Davenport, lowa, November 17-23, 1913. A special collection of his and his
wife’s papers are at the New Jersey Historical Society. Many of his churches have
National Register and local historic designatibns.

The Akron Plan was conceived by Lewis Miller, and inventor, and the superintendent of
the Sunday school for the First Methodist Episcopal Church in Akron, Ohio. Miller with
architect Walter Bluthe, and Jacob Snyder worked out the plans for the new church that
was begun in 1866, and the Sunday school section was completed in 1870. Kramer
worked closely with Snyder when he started work in Akron. Attempting to refine the
Akron Plan, Kramer became the specialist in church design within the firm. Upon his
move to New York that was virtually all he designed. His work is located across the
United States and overseas. In addition to the more than 2,200 churches he executed
governmental, institutional, industrial, commercial and domestic buildings.

“The lion’s share of the credit due for the popularization and promulgation of the Akron
Plan belongs....to the architect George Washington Kramer,” writes Robert Jaeger.
Kramer’s ideas regarding protestant church design from the 1890s through the 1910s was
highly influential. He was mentioned in nearly every book and periodical about church
and Sunday school design. He produced a catalog of church designs and plans at
affordable prices for the Methodist Episcopal Church, Sbuth.

In his first book The What, How and Why of Church Building, on the prologue page xii he
spoke that for the modern church to manage not only the worship service, but other church
functions as well required new forms. He referred to teenbination”” church

principally to describe the inclusion of the Sunday school with main sanctuary for adult
worship. Kramer took little credit for the new church form, but described on page 218

how the idea of the combination was Lewis Miller’s, worked out with Jacob Snyder, and

4 James Terry Whit&he National Cyclopedia of American Biography, 1899, “Kramer, George

Washington,” p.331; http://books.google.com (access October 16, 2014).

5 Robert Jaeger, “The Auditorium and Akron Plans,” Cornell University, Master's Thesis, May, 1984, 165.
6 Ibid., 165-169.

7 George W. Kramer, “The What, How and Why of Church Building,” New York: 1897, xii.
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that it was an original, modern concept that transformed church design. The initial Akron
Plan placed the Sunday school in a balcony overlooking the sanctuary. Kramer’s designs
placed the Sunday school beside the sanctuary which minimized the sense of separation of
the two, with sliding doors or wooden folding screens to separate and dampen the sound.

ART CONTEXT

In the late 1870s, John La Farge conceived the idea of using opalescent glass as window
material in leaded windows."Opalescent” is glass that is opaque to semi-opacque, and
sometimes appears milky. In sheet form, it usually contains two or more colors and

usually white. In February of 1880, La Farge received a patent for his innoVafioa.

glass gave the illusion of solidity and shading, and lent itself to depictions of
representational subjects in stained glass windows. La Farge and Louis C. Tiffany
popularized the use of this glass and after 1880 many designers adopted the material, and
so was born what was dubbed the “American School” of stained'§lasse use of

opalescent glass was in contrast to the traditional way of assembling a stained glass
window with single-color sheets of glass that was transparent to translucent. The glass was
painted upon to depict the subject matter and shading with special glass paint that was fired
in kilns. Opalescent designers still relied on painted glass to depict faces, hands, and feet
of people, and letters for inscriptions.

One of the largest stained glass window makers in the South were Empire Glass and
Decoration Company at 156 Edgewood Avenue in Atlanta, Gebtrgihe firm provided a
huge number of churches in the southeast with opalescent stained glass windows and
church furniture from 1889 until 1935. Most windows were ornamental without figural

8 Royal Cortissoz, “John La Farge: A Memoir and a Study, (New York: Houghton Mifflin and Company,
1911), 187.

9 James Baker, “An Old TimerThe Ornamental Glass Bulletin, (September 1918), 8,9.

10 Roger Riordon,”American Stained Glas&herican Art Review, (Boston: Dana Estes and Charles
Lauriat, 1881), 7.

11 Empire Glass and Decoration Company, (Brochure, installations in Southeast), (1929). Stained Glass
Association of American, Historic Files, “Studio Catalogs.”

12 Robert O. Jone®iographical Index of American Historic Stained Glass Makers, Raytown, Missouri:
Stained Glass Association of America, 2002, 38.
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depictions, but being church windows, painted glass inscriptions were usual at the bottoms
of the windows. Small painted medallions depicting symbols or small scenes, were often
inserted in an ornamental window to provide distinction, and at an added expense. Full-
figured designs of scenes from the life of Christ or events from the bible were the most
expensive. Faces and folds of robes were painted on single color sheets of glass in the
older traditional fashion, while backgrounds were rendered with opalescent glass. As is
the case in most long-lived hand-craft shops, craftsmen and glass painters came and went
as employees, and painted figure work varied in skill and techniques.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

The First Methodist Episcopal Church, South, in Perry, was designed by George W.
Kramer, one of the nations’ premier church architects, and advocate of what he called
“combination” church design. Kramer's application of the Spanish Mission Revival Style
to the exterior of the church integrated the architecture with the predominant Florida-look
of contemporary construction during the earl§f' 2@ntury. The church is built with a

stucco exterior, and symmetrical sculpted parapets on the main west and south elevations.
Windows are arched as are the openings in an engaged three-story square entry
tower/belfry at the southwest corner. The tower’s pyramidal roof has square timber
brackets at the eaves, and the timber brackets are repeated over a single door in the west
elevation.

The combination of arranging the traditional sanctuary worship setting with Sunday school
classes, and other assembly uses into a multi-use church design, was Kramer’s specialty.
The approach was especially popular in protestant church, and particularly popular with
the Methodist denominations. The traditional sanctuary worship space is arranged in an
“auditorium” plan. The main entry at the southwest corner is canted with two doors that
open in to a short narthex with single doors to the east and north. The floor of this square
room slants downward from the southwest entry to the northeast curved dais with altar and
pulpit. Three sections of curved pews have side aisles and two aisles skirting the central
group of pews. The width of the pews narrows as they approach the dais. The north wall
of the opens to a large rectangular space with pews facing the sanctuary. The space is one-
step up and a knee rail with balusters defines to two rooms. This is the “Akron Plan”
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aspect of the interior design, and where Sunday Schools were held. A sliding screen that
could separate the two rooms has been removed.

Coinciding with the construction of the church in 1917, the Methodist Episcopal
denomination was expanding their sense of social mission to be more inclusive of
community services. To that end more encouragement was given to church design that
allowed for multiple uses of interior space to provide “seven-day-a-week” progtains.

was suggested that a dedicated Sunday school room based on the Akron Plan was an
impractical use of spadé. Kramer’s “combination” planning was ahead of this criticism

in that he had designed a fully functioning basement (an unusual feature in Florida) that
doubled the serviceable space within the church’s given footprint. The basement contains
classrooms, a kitchen, bathrooms, and a large general assembly room that furthered the
accessibility of the church.

The First Methodist Episcopal Church, South retains integrity of workmanship and
materials, both in the interior finishes and stained glass window installations. The
architectural details and layout of the church speaks to its feeling and association with
early Methodist church design, which experimented with how to best integrate the public
and worship service. Although this building has maintained the same location for nearly
one hundred years, its setting has been compromised by the addition of a paved asphalt
parking lot to the north, and the adjacent 1977 church annex to the east, which is narrowly
connected to the historic 1917 church building via a one-story hallway enclosed by glass
doors. This hallway was engineered out of necessity to hide the extensive steel beams that
buttress the east wall of the 1917 church. These beams were installed to prevent the further
migration of structural elements. However, the 1977 annex does not overwhelm the

original church building, as it maintains a lower profile and recedes on the diminishing
slope of the land eastward. In its overall design, the 1917 church maintains most aspects of
its design, including original exterior and interior finishes, and historic circulation patterns.

13 Bureau of Architecture of the Methodist Episcopal Church, “Building the Seven-Day-A-Week Church,”
Philadelphia: City Work and Church Extension, 1928, p.3.
14 Ibid., p.6.
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ART SIGNIFICANCE

The stained glass in First Methodist Episcopal Church, South, in Perry, was made by the
Empire Glass and Decoration Company out of Atlanta. The firm, in business from 1889
until 1935, was a major supplier of stained glass and church furniture, and claimed over
one-thousand churches plus other facilities, served by them in the Southeast. The windows
in churches are mostly filled with ornamental opalescent leaded glass with conventional
scrolling motifs. But, notable in the work is the high quality of the figural depictions in the
central panels of the west and south sanctuary windows. The bible stories of ‘Jesus and the
rich man’ and the ‘woman at the well,” have figures expertly posed and expertly painted.
The ‘woman’ and the ‘rich man’ have distinctive poses, and the robes on both are expertly
painted, particularly the texturing and details of the rich-man’s robe. All flesh tones have

an under-layer of white, and are rendered in conventional brown paints which are then
enhanced with additional colored enamels, requiring several kiln firings. Though much of
Empire’s glass work can be viewed as vernacular production goods, there were periods
when quality artists were on staff who could elevate the results of their artistic

commissions, and this is an excellent example of one.
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BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Original Town All Block 9 OR 465-501
1.23 acres
Parcel # 03864-000

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The National Register boundary of the Methodist Episcopa Church, South, encompasses
the historic 1917 church and the attached 1977 non-contributing building, both connected
viaacovered walkway. The walkway was designed to hide the steel beams that provide
structural support to the east wall of the 1917 church. This church elevation still retains
fenestration patterns and original entry points that have not been compromised by the
addition. Even though the 1977 one-story addition islargein size, its setback and
placement on the parcel does not overwhelm the historic church, nor diminish itsintegrity
of design, workmanship, materials, feeling or association. The National Register
boundaries are defined by the city right-of-ways on the sidewalks to the west, south, and
east, and the southern edge of the parking lot. The 1917 church remainson itsorigina full
city block but its setting has changed with the addition of a modern building to the east and
parking lot to the north.
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*Yellow highlighted area between the 1917 church and the 1977 annex shows the thin covered hallway
that connects the two buildings and hides the structural reinforcement.
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First Methodist Episcopal Church, South (First United Methodist Church), 302
North Jefferson Street, Perry

Taylor County, Florida

Robert O. Jones

October, 2014

Main, west fagcade and south elevation

Photo #1 of 22

Items 1 — 5 are the same for the following photographs.

5. Roof, looking northwest
6. Photo #2 of 22

5. West facade, looking east
6. Photo #3 of 22

5. Corner entry tower, looking northeast
6. Photo #4 of 22

5. Cornerstone by main entrance, looking east
6. Photo #5 of 22

5. South portion of west fagade, looking east
6. Photo #6 of 22

5. South elevation, looking north
6. Photo #7 of 22

5. North elevation with new elevator entry, looking east
6. Photo #8 of 22
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Walkway between church and 1977 building
Photo #9 of 22

Interior, main entrance and small narthex, looking south
Photo #10 of 22

Curved dais, altar and pulpit, looking northeast
Photo #11 of 22

Auditorium seating, looking northeast
Photo #12 of 22

West sanctuary wall central stained glass window, looking west
Photo #13 of 22

South sanctuary wall central stained glass window detail, looking south
Photo #14 of 22

Coffered ceiling, looking south
Photo #15 of 22

Opening into Sunday School room, looking north
Photo #16 of 22

Secretary’s office, looking west
Photo #17 of 22

Pastor’s office, looking north
Photo #18 of 22

Basement central room, looking north
Photo #19 of 22
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Mechanical room, looking east
Photo #20 of 22
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Kitchen, looking south
Photo #21 of 22
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Church history display case, looking north
Photo #22 of 22
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